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7 December 2009

Graeme Innes, AM

Disability Discrimination Commissioner

Australian Human Rights Commission

133 Castlereagh Street

Sydney   2000
By email:  disabdis@humanrights.gov.au
Dear Commissioner

Re: Temporary Exemption Application

Vision Australia welcomes the opportunity to make comment in response to the application for a Temporary Exemption under Section 55 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (DDA) lodged with the Australian Human Rights Commission by Hoyts Corporation, Greater Union Organisation, Village Cinemas, and Reading Cinemas.

About Vision Australia

1) Vision Australia is Australia's largest provider of services to people who are blind or have low vision. It has been formed over the past five years through the merger of several of Australia’s oldest, most respected and experienced blindness and low vision agencies. Our vision is that people who are blind or have low vision will increasingly have the choice to participate fully in every facet of life in the community.

2) To help realise this goal, we are committed to providing high-quality services to the community of people who are blind or have low vision, and their families, in areas that include early childhood, orientation and mobility, education, employment, information, recreation and independent living. We also work collaboratively with Government, business and the community to eliminate the barriers people who are blind or have low vision face in accessing the community or in exercising their rights as Australian citizens.

3) The knowledge and experience that Vision Australia gains through its interaction with clients and their families, and also by the involvement of people who are blind or have low vision at all levels of the Organisation, means that it is well placed to provide advice to governments, business and the community on the challenges faced by people who are blind or have low vision fully participating in community life.

4) Vision Australia believes that it is important for us, as an organisation in the blindness sector, to submit comment in response to the application for temporary exemption because we believe that full and independent access to cinema by people who are blind or have low vision is consistent with and anticipated by the aims and objects of the DDA, the Australian Government’s Social Inclusion Agenda and National Arts and Disability Strategy, and the UN Convention on the Rights of persons with Disabilities.

5) Vision Australia has made a number of submissions in which it has argued that the provision of audio description services in Australian cinemas is long overdue, and that people who are blind or have low vision are being denied access to culture and entertainment that is available to the rest of the community. These submissions include:

a) Submission to the Inquiry into Access o Electronic Media for the Hearing and Vision Impaired;

b) Submission to the National Arts and Disability Strategy Consultation;

c) Submission to the National Disability Strategy Consultation.

Comments in Response to Application for Temporary Exemption

6) In considering the merits of the application from the 4 cinema corporations for a Temporary Exemption, the Commission should have regard for the significant disadvantage that people who are blind or have low vision face in Australia in attempting to access cinema content. The cinema industry in Australia is more tan a decade behind its counterparts in other countries in providing audio description. The Commission should also take note of the fact that access to cinemas is unlikely to improve as a result of the approaches being considered by the Australian Government that are outlined in the Discussion Report “Access to Electronic Media for the Hearing and Vision Impaired: Approaches for Consideration”, released in November 2009. 

7) Vision Australia believes that the introduction of audio description into only 35 Australian cinemas in a two-and-a-half-year timeframe is substantially insufficient to bring about significant improvements in access to cinema for people who are blind or have low vision that are comparable with access available in countries such as the US, Canada, and the UK.

8) Nevertheless, we recognise the productive discussions that have taken place between industry, the disability sector and the Australian Human Rights Commission, and so we are therefore prepared to support the application, provided that a number of additional conditions are included. These conditions are outlined in the following paragraphs.

9) Condition 1: In addition to the cinemas listed on the Schedule to the application, all cinemas that are built or undergo substantial refurbishment during the period of the Temporary Exemption are to be fitted with audio-description capabilities. We do not think it is reasonable or consistent with the principles of social inclusion and equal access that new or refurbished cinemas should be excluded from the terms of the application. The investment needed to install the equipment for showing captioned and audio-described movies is a very small percentage of the overall cost of the cinema fit-out.

10) Condition 2: The Temporary Exemption will be limited to those cinemas that are wholly owned by the applicants, and will not apply to any franchise cinemas in which the applicants have a stake. The extension of audio description to 35 cinemas throughout Australia will not be of significant benefit to people who are blind or have low vision in attending their local suburban cinemas. We are not clear whether all cinemas that operate under the name of one of the 4 corporations are wholly-owned or franchised, and we ask that the Commission clarify this as part of its deliberations on the Temporary Exemption application. Relinquishing the right to lodge a DDA complaint in respect of services provided in a person’s local community, such as a local suburban cinema, is not a step that should be taken lightly, particularly if there are no plans to extend audio description into that cinema in the foreseeable future and if the local cinema is not making a contribution to the improvement of access.

11) Condition 3: Audio description will be available (“always on”) at all screenings of movies where audio description is included. It is totally unacceptable that audio description be shown at only 3 weekly screenings, as this will severely restrict the ability of people who are blind or have low vision to attend such screenings. It also implies that people with disability should all be funnelled to the same sessions, which we do not believe is consistent with the principles of social inclusion and equal access. It is our understanding that once the equipment has been installed in the cinema, there is minimal cost involved in using it. Vision Australia notes that there is also extreme dissatisfaction among the Deaf community about the proposal to show only 3 captioned screenings per week. Moreover, there may be movies that are audio-described but not captioned (and vice versa), and linking audio description with captioning in the manner proposed in the application will preclude these movies from being shown with audio description.

12) Condition 4: Websites operated by the applicants will be fully compliant with Best-practice accessibility guidelines. While we welcome the commitment to making accessible information available about the availability of audio description, we note that such information is of limited value if it is embedded in an inaccessible website, or if other information relating to the movies (such as reviews, plot synopses, ticket booking facilities, etc.) is inaccessible. We therefore seek a condition that the applicants will undertake to make their websites compliant with the W3C Web Content Accessibility Guidelines to a level recommended by the Australian Human Rights Commission within the timeframe covered by the Temporary Exemption.

13) Condition 5: The applicants will establish a working party, including representatives from Vision Australia, to explore more effective technological solutions to the provision of audio description tracks. In previous submissions, Vision Australia has argued that some current technologies used in delivering audio description result in a very poor user experience, and impose unreasonable restrictions on cinema patrons (for example, that they must sit in designated spots in the cinema). We have argued that a solution should be developed that allows consumers to use FM receivers (possibly their own) and which also makes it possible to mix the audio description track and the movie sound track through the headphones. We regard the development of an optimal technological solution that results in a convenient and rewarding cinematic experience to be a crucial factor in the long-term viability of audio description in Australian cinemas, and the period covered by the Temporary Exemption would seem to be the most appropriate time to develop such a solution.

14) Condition 6: All screens in a cinema complex listed in the Schedule to the application should be fitted with the capacity to deliver captions and audio description. We are concerned that if only certain screens are equipped with the access technology, then certain movies will be unavailable, for example, high-interest, new-release movies that require a larger screen/venue would not be accessible if only the smaller screens in the complex were fitted with access technology. People who are blind or have low vision should have the same level of access to all screens in a complex as the rest of the community, and the maximum potential access to movies that have audio-description tracks. 
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